**RECEIVED**

**Aug 08 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable David P. Caraker, Circuit Court Judge  
Civil Action No. 2022-CP-22-00739

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001074

---

Ryan Cobb, Malon Cobb, Cobb Trucking, LLC, and Brandy Cobb, Respondents,

v.

David Alan Bigelow, Heritage Hauling, Inc., Boggs Contracting, Inc.,  
and Safe Shield, LLC, Defendants,

of which Boggs Contracting, Inc. is the Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT BOGGS CONTRACTING, INC.**

---

**MURPHY & GRANTLAND, P.A.**

J.R. Murphy, Esquire, S.C. Bar No. 7941

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by expressly declining to issue any sanction under any Rule of Civil Procedure but still striking Boggs Contracting's Answer based only on its "inherent power," when there is no legal basis or authority for such a sanction?
- II. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by making unsupported factual findings that Boggs Contracting acted in bad faith to intentionally conceal documents in discovery and intentionally caused delays in discovery?
- III. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by failing to consider a lesser sanction?
- IV. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by imposing a sanction against Boggs Contracting equivalent to a finding of criminal contempt without following mandatory due process protections?
- V. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion because there is no reasonable factual support for the Circuit Court's finding that Respondents were prejudiced by the discovery violations they allege?
- VI. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion by failing to rule on whether its Order striking Boggs Contracting's Answer also affected Boggs Contracting's cross-claim against other Defendants?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury lawsuit arising from a February 2022 commercial vehicle accident in Georgetown County. (Am. Compl. ¶ 10.) The issues on appeal arise from an April 2025 Circuit Court Order striking Appellant's Answer to Respondents' Complaint as a discovery sanction. (Order p. 12.) The Order declined to issue any sanction under Rule 37, SCRPC or any Rule of Civil Procedure but still *sua sponte* struck Appellant's Answer based on the "inherent power" of the court. (*Id.*)

Respondents filed their original Summons and Complaint on August 30, 2022, against Defendants David Bigelow, Heritage Hauling, Inc., and Boggs Contracting, Inc. (Compl.) Respondents amended their Complaint on May 3, 2024, to add Safe Shield, LLC as an additional defendant. (Am. Compl.)

The subject commercial vehicle accident occurred in a road construction zone, and Appellant Boggs Contracting, Inc. was the paving contractor for the road resurfacing project. (Am. Compl. ¶ 6.) Boggs Contracting subcontracted with Heritage Hauling to deliver hot mix asphalt to the paving site in dump trucks. (Hayes dep. 132:2-5.) The collision occurred while Bigelow, a Heritage Hauling employee, was driving a Heritage Hauling dump truck to deliver asphalt to the paving site. (Am. Compl. ¶ 11.) Bigelow rear-ended a commercial delivery truck leased by Respondent Cobb Trucking, LLC and occupied by Respondents Ryan Cobb and Malon Cobb, causing catastrophic injuries and damage. (*Id.* at 10, 12.) Boggs Contracting did not employ the driver (Bigelow) or any individuals involved in the collision, and it did not have any ownership, lease, or other interest in any of the vehicles involved in the collision. (Lewis dep. 38:2-9; 71:5-18.) Boggs Contracting managed the paving project but had no direct involvement in the collision.

Respondents generally allege that Bigelow and Heritage Hauling are liable for negligently operating the dump truck that caused the collision, that Safe Shield is liable for negligence in

alleged shortcomings with traffic control in the construction zone, and that Boggs Contracting is vicariously liable for Bigelow's alleged negligence and directly and/or vicariously liable for alleged shortcomings with traffic control in the construction zone. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 16, 38, 43, 59-60.)

Between the commencement of the lawsuit in August 2022 and December 2024, the parties exchanged multiple written discovery responses and document productions and conducted nine (9) depositions. Respondents filed three (3) motions to compel discovery responses against Boggs Contracting in April 2023, December 2023, and March 2024, each of which was resolved prior to a hearing. (Apr. 2023 Mtn. Compel; Dec. 2023 Mtn. Compel; Mar. 2024 Mtn. Compel.) The Circuit Court issued Form 4 Orders recognizing that each of the Motions to Compel were resolved. (May 11, 2023 Form 4 Order; February 5, 2024 Form 4 Order; April 26, 2024 Form 4 Order.)

On April 17, 2024, in connection with the third motion to compel discovery responses, Boggs Contracting provided a verification signed by one of its corporate officers, Kevin J. Hayes, Jr. (Hayes Verification.) On April 24, 2024, Mr. Hayes testified in his deposition as a Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative of Boggs Contracting. The verification and portions of Mr. Hayes' testimony later became part of the subject of Respondents' Motion for Sanctions.

On December 4, 2024, Boggs Contracting filed a Motion for Substitution of Counsel to replace its prior counsel with new defense counsel. (Mtn. Substitution of Counsel.) The Circuit Court granted the substitution of counsel the next day, on December 5, 2024. (Dec. 5, 2024 Order.)

On December 13, 2024, the parties conducted a deposition of an employee of the South Carolina Department of Transportation. During that deposition, Boggs Contracting's new defense counsel introduced an email as a deposition exhibit that had not been previously produced in the

case. (*Id.* at 77:22-25; Bourque Dep. Ex. 2 (Guillot Email).) That email also later became part of the subject of Respondents’ Motion for Sanctions.

On January 2, 2025, Respondents filed a Motion for Sanctions Against Defendant Boggs Contracting, Inc. for Abuse of Discovery. (Mtn. for Sanctions.) The primary impetus for the Motion for Sanctions was the email first disclosed in the December 13, 2024 deposition. (*Id.* at 10.) The arguments and authorities cited in Respondents’ Motion were based on Rule 37, SCRC, and case law interpreting that Rule. (*See, e.g., id.* at 12-13.) There was no mention in the Motion of any request for the Court to take any action based on the Court’s “inherent power.”

At the time the Motion was filed, this case was listed as the number 3 date certain trial in Georgetown County for June 16, 2025. (Nov. 27, 2024 Order.)

Respondents’ Motion for Sanctions contended—and the Circuit Court ultimately ordered—that Boggs Contracting intentionally concealed documents that should have been produced earlier, and that the purported discovery abuse was attributable solely to Boggs Contracting itself, not in any part to any other person or entity, including Boggs Contracting’s prior counsel or its insurance carrier. (Mtn. for Sanctions p. 12; Order p. 8.) In response, Boggs Contracting acknowledged that documents were not produced that should have been produced but contended that the failure to produce documents was not intentional and was attributable to inadvertent shortcomings by multiple different persons and entities who each made mistakes, including Boggs Contracting itself, its prior counsel, and its insurance carrier. (Resp. to Mtn. for Sanctions pp. 4-6.) Boggs Contracting also contended (1) that the prior discovery shortcomings were cured after the appearance of substitute defense counsel, and (2) that Respondents were not prejudiced because the shortcomings were cured long before trial, at a point when significant written discovery, depositions, and expert discovery were still to be conducted. (*Id.* at 14.)

After Respondents' motion was filed, and before the hearing occurred, Boggs Contracting (through the new counsel substituted on December 4, 2024) collected 648,787 documents from its electronic systems and, after thorough review, located and produced 133 documents responsive to Respondents' discovery requests. (*Id.* at 7.) Respondents made no further contention that any documents remained unproduced.

The Circuit Court held a WebEx hearing on Respondents' Motion on February 20, 2025. The arguments and authorities Respondents cited in the hearing were again based on Rule 37, SCRPC, and case law interpreting that Rule. There was no mention at all in the hearing of the Court's "inherent power." Respondents acknowledged the sufficiency of Boggs Contracting's supplemental document production during the hearing, and they withdrew their request for a search of Boggs Contracting's email servers because they were satisfied with the supplemental discovery. (Hrg. Transcript 24:17-24.)

After the February hearing, all parties proceeded forward in discovery with an expectation that the case was ongoing, including exchange of interrogatories, requests for production, requests for admission, producing documents, and scheduling nine (9) more depositions.

On March 18, 2025, the circuit judge emailed counsel for the parties, announcing his intention to grant Respondents' motion and strike Boggs Contracting's Answer and requesting Respondents' counsel to submit a proposed order. (March 18, 2025 Email.)

Respondents' counsel submitted a proposed order on March 31, 2025. The Circuit Court adopted the proposed order as submitted by Respondents' counsel, and the order was filed on April 22, 2025. The Order rejected Respondents' request for sanctions under Rule 37, SCRPC and declined to issue any sanction under that rule. (Order p. 8.) The Order struck Boggs Contracting's Answer to Respondents' Complaint, stating that "the Court grants sanctions using its inherent

powers and not based on Rule 37.” (Order p. 12.) The Order declined to consider the merits of any party’s claims or defenses, stating that “[t]his decision is in no way a comment on the merits of this case.” (Order p. 13.)

Boggs Contracting filed a Motion for Reconsideration on April 23, 2025. (Mtn. for Reconsideration.) Respondents filed a response in opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration on May 4, 2025. (Resp. in Opposition.) On May 20, 2025, the Circuit Court entered a Form 4 Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration. (May 20, 2025 Order.)

Boggs Contracting then filed and timely served its Notice of Appeal on June 2, 2025.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The decision to impose sanctions and the terms of those sanctions are within the discretion of the trial court, and an appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s decision absent an abuse of discretion. *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 436-37, 63 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008); *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). The circuit court abuses its discretion if “the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 681.

A discovery “sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the Court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case. [The] sanction should be aimed at the specific misconduct of the party sanctioned. In other words, the sanction should be a rifle-shot, not a shotgun blast.” *Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 154, 399 S.E.2d 439, 440 (Ct. App. 1990).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **I. Claims and Defenses in the Underlying Case**

This is a personal injury lawsuit arising from a February 2022 commercial vehicle accident in a road construction zone on a rural, two lane road in Georgetown County. (Am. Compl. ¶ 10.) Boggs Contracting, Inc. was the paving contractor for the road resurfacing project. (Am. Compl. ¶ 6.) Boggs Contracting subcontracted with Heritage Hauling, Inc. to deliver hot mix asphalt to the paving site in dump trucks. (Hayes dep. 132:2-5.) The collision occurred while David Bigelow, a Heritage Hauling employee, was driving a Heritage Hauling dump truck to deliver asphalt to the paving site. (Am. Compl. ¶ 11.) Mr. Bigelow rear-ended a commercial delivery truck leased by Respondent Cobb Trucking, LLC and occupied by Respondents Ryan Cobb and Malon Cobb.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.* at 10.) Boggs Contracting did not employ the driver (Bigelow) or any individuals involved in the collision, and it did not have any ownership, lease, or other interest in any of the vehicles involved in the collision. (Lewis dep. 38:2-9; 71:5-18.) Boggs Contracting managed the paving project but had no direct involvement in the collision.

Respondents allege that Ryan Cobb and Malon Cobb were catastrophically injured in the collision. They further allege that Cobb Trucking, LLC had to go out of business because of the loss from the collision. Respondent Brandy Cobb, the wife of Ryan Cobb, brought a loss of consortium claim.

Respondents contend Boggs Contracting is vicariously liable for Mr. Bigelow's actions and directly and/or vicariously liable for alleged issues with traffic control in the construction zone. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 38, 43, 59-60.) Boggs Contracting has asserted numerous defenses, including potentially dispositive defenses on which Boggs Contracting contends it would be entitled to

---

<sup>1</sup> A third occupant, La'Jai Webster, was also injured and filed a separate civil action that is not at issue in this appeal.

summary judgment if allowed to defend the case on the merits. (Am. Ans. to Am. Compl.) These defenses include (but are not limited to) federal preemption under the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (“FAAAA”), which completely bars all of Respondents’ claims against Boggs Contracting, and the well-established rule that a principal is not vicariously liable for the negligent acts of an independent contractor. (*Id.* at 41, 47.) All of the other defendants are subcontractors or an employee of a subcontractor, and Boggs Contracting denies as a matter of law that it can be vicariously liable for the alleged negligence of any of the other defendants. (*Id.*)

The Circuit Court expressly declined to consider the merits of Boggs Contracting’s defenses. (Order p. 13.)

## **II. Discovery Dispute Over Documents Not Produced by Boggs Contracting**

The discovery dispute raised in Respondents’ Motion for Sanctions involved Respondents’ First and Third Sets of Rule 34 Requests for Production to Boggs Contracting. (Mtn. for Sanct. pp. 4-5.)

Respondents issued their First Set of Requests for Production to Boggs Contracting in December 2022. (*Id.* at 4.) Boggs Contracting’s prior counsel did not notify Boggs Contracting that the Requests existed until after the due date for responses had passed. (Feb. 12, 2025 Aff. ¶ 12.) Boggs Contracting acknowledges that it failed to respond in a timely manner. (Boggs Contracting’s Resp. to 1st RFPs.) Respondents filed their first Motion to Compel responses, which was resolved by agreement in May 2023 when Boggs Contracting produced responses to the Requests before the hearing on the Motion to Compel. (*Id.*; Apr. 2023 Mtn. Compel; May 2023 Consent Order; May 2023 Form 4 Order.) The Court entered a Form 4 Order finding the motion was moot. (*Id.*)

Respondents issued their Third Set of Requests for Production to Boggs Contracting in September 2023. (Mtn. for Sanct. p. 5.) Request No. 42 was central to the dispute, as it called for

all communications between Boggs Contracting and any third party relating to the subject collision or the subject load. (*Id.* at 7.) Boggs Contracting responded in a timely manner with objections to the Requests and did not produce any documents. (Boggs Contracting’s Resp. 3rd RFPs.) Respondents filed their second motion to compel responses in December 2023, seeking production of responsive documents. (Dec. 2023 Mtn. to Compel.) Boggs Contracting produced a supplemental response in February 2024 stating that no materials existed responsive to Request No. 42. (Boggs Contracting’s Resp. Supp. Resp. 3rd RFPs.) Respondents then withdrew their second motion to compel in February 2024 based on (1) Boggs Contracting’s supplemental response stating that no responsive materials existed, and (2) an agreement that Boggs Contracting would provide a written verification of its responses. The Court entered a Form 4 Order finding the motion was moot. (Feb. 2024 Form 4 Order.)

Respondents filed their third motion to compel in March 2024, seeking to compel production of the written verification that had not yet been produced. (March 2024 Mtn. to Compel.) Boggs Contracting provided the verification in April 2024 signed by Kevin J. Hayes, Jr. as an officer of Boggs Contracting, and Respondents withdrew the motion. (Apr. 2024 Form 4 Order.) The verification stated:

Pursuant to Rule 33, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, I, Kevin J. Hayes, Jr., officer of Boggs Contracting, Inc. affirm that the Responses, First Supplemental Responses and Second Supplemental Responses to Plaintiffs’ Third Requests for Production provided are true and accurate **to the best of my knowledge** and **reserve the right to further supplement the Responses if new information is discovered or becomes available.**

(Hayes Verification (emphasis added).)

In a later, unrefuted affidavit dated February 12, 2025 (after the Motion for Sanctions was filed), Mr. Hayes attested that he did not know the April 2024 verification was overdue or was the

subject of a Motion to Compel. (Feb. 12, 2025 Aff. ¶ 11.) Boggs Contracting’s prior counsel never provided that information to Boggs Contracting, including Mr. Hayes. (*Id.* at 12.) As stated below, Boggs Contracting does not contend this excuses the delay in producing the verification, but it is one of many facts showing there is no support for the Circuit Court’s finding that the discovery shortcomings were solely attributable to Boggs Contracting itself and that Boggs Contracting intentionally withheld documents or information.

After Boggs Contracting produced the verification, Respondents deposed Mr. Hayes on April 24, 2024, as a Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative of Boggs Contracting. (Hayes dep.) Contrary to Respondents’ unsupported arguments, Mr. Hayes gave truthful and accurate testimony. Mr. Hayes testified that **to his knowledge**, there were no responsive emails other than the ones that had been produced. (Hayes dep. 98:4-6.) He went on to state that “Related to that incident, **that is all that I’m aware of.**” (Hayes dep. 99:17-20) (emphasis added).) He further explained the steps he had taken to search for responsive emails. (Hayes dep. 98:7 – 99:20.) While it became known later that other emails existed, there is no evidence to refute Mr. Hayes’ signed verification or testimony that he was not aware of any other responsive emails at that time.

On December 4, 2024, Boggs Contracting filed a Motion for Substitution of Counsel to replace its prior counsel with new defense counsel. (Mtn. Subst. Counsel.) The Circuit Court granted the substitution of counsel the next day. (Dec. 5, 2024 Order.) On December 13, 2024—nine (9) days after the substitute defense counsel appeared—the parties conducted a deposition of a third party witness from the South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT), which had been scheduled for some time before the substitution of counsel. (Bourque dep.) During that deposition, Boggs Contracting’s new defense counsel introduced as an exhibit a February 2022 email between Boggs Contracting employee Matthew Guillot and the SCDOT employee witness,

which had not been previously produced in the case. (*Id.* at 77:22-25; Bourque Dep. Ex. 2 (Guillot Email).) The email had been in Boggs Contracting’s insurance carrier’s file since Boggs Contracting provided it to the carrier in September 2022, approximately one (1) week after Boggs Contracting was served with the original Summons and Complaint. (Feb. 12, 2025 Aff. ¶ 7.) However, the email was never provided to the prior counsel and was not produced in the litigation before December 13, 2024. (*Id.*) Having given the email to the insurance carrier promptly after being served with the Summons and Complaint, Boggs Contracting itself did not know the email was not produced earlier in the litigation. (*Id.*)

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