THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Dec 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable David P. Caraker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001074

Ryan Cobb, Malon Cobb, Cobb Trucking, LLC, and Brandy Cobb,.....Respondents,

v.

David Alan Bigelow, Heritage Hauling, Inc., Boggs Contracting, Inc., and Safe Shield, LLC,
Defendants,

of which Boggs Contracting, Inc. is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com

CULBRETH LAW FIRM
Stephen E. Culbreth, Esquire
culbrethlaw@juno.com

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

This Court "reluctantly" reversed the sanction because it went beyond what was necessary by also striking the cross-claim against the seller-defendant. *Id.* at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682. This resulted, on one hand, in a "windfall" for the seller-defendant when its rights were not violated, and, on the other hand, in "prejudice" to the seller-defendant because the presumption of liability

of the manufacturing-defendant “stripped” the seller “of its ability to defend on the ground that the materials sold were not, in fact, defective. *Id.* at 544, 489 S.E.2d at 682-83.

The circumstances of this case are different. First, the lower court did not strike a cross-claim or counterclaim. It struck only Boggs’s Answer, which is tailored to the specific misconduct at issue. Second, the lower court specifically considered the effect of the sanction “on Boggs’ co-defendants and f[ound] that, under the allegations in the Complaint, striking Boggs’ answer will have no prejudicial effect on the remaining defendants’ ability to defend themselves.” (R. p. 46). Therefore, unlike in *Karppi*, the lower court here did consider that this case involves multiple parties and narrowly tailored the sanction to neither create a windfall for nor prejudice the remaining co-defendants.

Boggs also cites the *Karppi* Court’s statement that the sanctioned-defendant’s attorney “was at least as much to blame as the party itself,” making the sanction “unjust” under the circumstances. 327 S.C. at 545 n.6, 489 S.E.2d at 683 n.6; Br. of App. p. 40. That is not what happened in this case. Boggs misstates the record as to its knowledge. It relies on Mr. Hayes’s affidavit statement that Boggs did not know the engineering investigation materials were not sent by the insurance carrier to prior defense counsel or produced in discovery. (Br. of App. p. 40; R. p. 460). This is disingenuous. Mr. Hayes signed the verification stating the discovery responses were all true. The discovery responses Boggs verified state that there is no information about anyone going to the scene of the collision within 48 hours after the accident except for an internal incident report and the TR-310 traffic collision report. (R. pp. 193-94). That statement is not true because Boggs ordered an engineering investigation that occurred the day after the collision. When Mr. Hayes read those responses so that he could sign the verification of their truthfulness **under oath**, he should have known, acting as Boggs, that the engineering investigation had not

been produced. Boggs cannot blame prior counsel to avoid a sanction when it plainly knew what it signed and what it testified to at the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition based on its corporate knowledge.

Contrary to Boggs's assertion, the lower court did consider "the action (and inactions) of Boggs Contracting's prior counsel," (Br. of App. p. 40), and found that they did not negate Boggs's own conduct and knowledge. (R. pp. 41-42). At the very least, Mr. Hayes, acting as Boggs, reviewed the discovery responses that Boggs verified and reviewed all discovery before the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition. Both of those reviews should have put Boggs on notice that not all responsive discovery was produced. Boggs cannot negate its own knowledge by blaming prior counsel.

Boggs argues that it corrected "the discovery shortcomings" but continues to fail to acknowledge that this is not only about the failure to produce responsive materials. It is also about Boggs twice giving false statements under oath—in the verification and in the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition. That is a serious matter that warrants a serious sanction. Boggs's full production of discovery occurred only because Respondents discovered that Boggs was withholding information. Boggs's disclosure after being caught does not neutralize the damage caused or the strategic advantage that it enjoyed before every motion hearing and at depositions and mediations. If the court simply allows Boggs to cry "no harm no foul" and avoid a meaningful sanction, then it will encourage Boggs and other litigants to flout the discovery rules in the absence of any consequences for its conduct.

The sanction of striking Boggs's answer was not a "hydrogen bomb." (Br. of App. pp. 40-41). It was a "'rifle-shot' aimed at the specific misconduct of the party" that took place over months of attempted discovery and included false discovery responses about the existence of documents, false deposition testimony, and a false verification. (R. p. 46) (quoting *Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 154, 399 S.E.2d 439, 441 (Ct. App. 1990)).

This Court should affirm the lower court's exercise of discretion in choosing an appropriate sanction.

IV. Boggs did not preserve a criminal contempt or due process issue.

Boggs did not argue to the lower court that the sanction of striking its answer is “equivalent to a finding of criminal contempt” or that it did not receive due process. (Br. of App. p. 41). “It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). “A due process claim raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved.” *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 625, 576 S.E.2d 156, 163 (2003). Boggs cannot raise these issues for the first time on appeal. The Court should find that Boggs failed to preserve an issue about criminal contempt or due process and decline to address them.

V. Alternatively, the lower court did not hold Boggs in criminal contempt.

The lower court did not hold Boggs in criminal contempt. The Court should decline to consider this issue because Boggs's arguments are nonresponsive to the Orders on appeal—neither of which mention contempt.

As an initial matter, Boggs argued to the lower court that this case did **not** involve criminal contempt. An “Appellant may not argue a different position on appeal.” *Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 302 n.11, 737 S.E.2d 601, 612 n.11 (2013). In its motion to reconsider, Boggs argued: “The singular, passing reference in *Brandt* to the court's ‘inherent power’ was in an **entirely different context** involving imprisonment for criminal contempt. It had nothing to do with striking a complaint as a discovery sanction.” (R. pp. 489-90) (emphasis added). Here, Boggs argues that the lower court's citation to *Brandt v. Gooding*, 368 S.C. 618, 630 S.E.2d 259 (2006)—a case involving criminal contempt—means that the court actually found it in

criminal contempt. (Br. of App. p. 41). Having argued that the criminal contempt in *Brandt* was an “entirely different context” than this case, Boggs cannot now argue that the lower court held it in criminal contempt. The Court may decline to address this entire argument based on Boggs’s change of position.

Although the criminal contempt argument is unpreserved and unfounded, Respondents make a few responses below to Boggs’s particular arguments.

First, as explained above in section I.A., there is ample law to support a court using its inherent powers to sanction, including a sanction to strike a party’s pleading. The mere fact that the court struck an answer does not mean that it held Boggs in criminal contempt. Boggs cannot contort the lower court’s ruling to pull an appellate issue out of thin air.

Second, although Boggs’s due process arguments do not apply to these circumstances, Boggs was actually afforded due process. “Procedural due process requires notice and the opportunity to be heard.” *McNeil v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 404 S.C. 186, 194, 743 S.E.2d 843, 847 (Ct. App. 2013). Boggs was on notice that Respondents’ motion for sanctions asked the court to strike its answer and “[a]ward any other sanctions that the Court deems necessary and appropriate under the circumstances.” (R. pp. 293-94). When the lower court entered the Order exercising its inherent powers, Boggs was on notice of its ruling. In response, Boggs exercised its rights to file a motion to reconsider and had an opportunity to be heard on its argument that the ruling was wrong and an improper use of power. (R. p. 462). Boggs never mentioned due process in that motion. The lower court considered Boggs’s arguments and denied them in its Order denying the motion to reconsider. (R. p. 49). Boggs received due process.

Third, as to *Brandt*, Boggs continues to misconstrue the lower court’s citation to that case. After citing to *Ex Parte Dibble*, as to the general inherent powers of a court, the lower court also

cited to *Brandt*. The “inherent power” quote in *Brandt* is found in the criminal contempt analysis section. However, that does not mean the lower court did or intended to hold Boggs in criminal contempt. Instead, the remainder of the Order discussed the considerations for issuing a discovery sanction. The lower court plainly did not hold Boggs in contempt, and its prolonged discussion of *Brandt* is simply not applicable to the Orders before this Court.

VI. The evidence and law support the lower court’s finding that Respondents were prejudiced by Boggs’s conduct.

The lower court found Respondents “suffered prejudice because of Boggs’ conduct.” (R. p. 43). The court cited law that prejudice can be presumed when a party’s discovery rights are violated, but plainly held that, in this case, “prejudice is not only presumed but is, **in fact, proven.**” (R. pp. 43-44) (emphasis added). The court explained that Respondents spent two years of discovery without knowledge that an investigation occurred and without responsive documents. (R. p. 44). After Respondents specifically told Boggs they needed complete responses before two Rule 30(b)(6) depositions, they still took the depositions with incomplete and false responses in hand.⁷ (R. p. 44). The court found “that Boggs cannot be believed when it says that everything responsive has been produced.” (R. p. 44). Respondents twice participated in mediations without truthful discovery responses. The finding of prejudice is fully supported by the record.

Boggs criticizes the lower court’s citation to *Downey v. Dixon*, 294 S.C. 42, 46, 362 S.E.2d 317, 319 (Ct. App. 1987), and argues that the court “abused its discretion by holding that prejudice is presumed merely because Respondents ‘lost opportunities in discovery.’” (Br. of App. p. 46). First, the Supreme Court recently reiterated that “[d]iscovery is the quintessence of preparation for

⁷ When Respondents moved to compel Boggs to produce a signed verification of the discovery responses, they specifically told Boggs that they would be prejudiced without the ability to question a Rule 30(b)(6) witness without verified answers. (R. pp. 144-45). Boggs was on notice of prejudice related to the truthfulness of its responses.

trial and, when discovery rights are trampled, prejudice must be presumed.” *Welch v. Advance Auto. Parts, Inc.*, 445 S.C. 640, 656, 916 S.E.2d 320, 328 (2025) (internal quotation marks omitted). Second, as explained above, the lower court did not base its prejudice finding only on lost opportunities but also on time spent in two Rule 30(b)(6) depositions without truthful discovery responses where the newly-discovered documents “were highly relevant to both of those depositions.” (R. pp. 44-45).

Boggs argues there is no prejudice because it “supplemented its document production months before trial.”⁸ (Br. of App. p. 47). Stated differently, Boggs argues that it is okay for a party to withhold discovery and make false statements in discovery but, as long as they come clean with some time before trial, there is no prejudice. There is no support for that position. It is contrary to the law that “[t]he discovery process is designed to make a trial less a game of blind man’s bluff and more a fair contest with the basic issues and facts disclosed to the **fullest practicable extent.**” *Welch*, 445 S.C. at 656, 916 S.E.2d at 329 (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). The human realities of this situation undeniably show prejudice. Ryan Cobb suffered catastrophic injuries, including the loss of his leg. He suffered the loss of his livelihood when Cobb Trucking had to close its operations. Malon Cobb suffered a debilitating brain injury. During the litigation, the Respondents’ medical bills, expenses, and mental hardship continue to compound. Boggs’s conduct prolonged this litigation and, if not discovered, would have resulted

⁸ Boggs cites to *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011), for the proposition that there is no prejudice when a party cures its discovery failures before trial. (Br. of App. p. 47). *CFRE* does not say that. In *CFRE*, the defendant did not formally answer any standard discovery but, before trial, produced documents to the court that “created a complete record of the facts.” *Id.* at 83, 716 S.E.2d at 886. The Supreme Court held that there was not a presumption of prejudice because the defendant showed a lack of prejudice. *Id.* It did not hold that finally producing withheld documents, if done before trial, precludes a finding of prejudice.

in an outcome based on false information. The lower court correctly characterized Boggs's prejudice argument as "no harm, no foul" and rejected it. (R. p. 45).

Finally, Boggs argues that there is no prejudice because the newly-produced materials "have a low impact on the merits of the case." (Br. of App. p. 46). This is Boggs's opinion. Respondents disagree. The withheld documents are directly relevant and important to the case. For example, the email that revealed the discovery failures relates to a disputed issue—whether the traffic control signs were in place at the time of the accident. (R. pp. 408, 457). The parties disagree as to the meaning of the email—whether it shows Boggs trying to get a back-dated compliance report—and that disagreement goes to the merits of a disputed issue in the case. This communication dramatically altered the landscape of litigation with only weeks left before a date-certain trial.

Respondents went to great lengths to give Boggs the benefit of the doubt. They accepted the verification under oath stating that documents did not exist. They accepted Boggs's testimony (via Mr. Hayes under Rule 30(b)(6)) that only two emails existed about this massive collision. This all turned out to be untrue, and Boggs should not now be able to say it does not matter. Boggs's conduct prejudiced Respondents. The lower court applied the proper law to determine prejudice, and the evidence supports its findings. This Court should affirm.

VII. The lower court did not strike Boggs's crossclaim.

The lower court's order states that "Boggs Contracting Inc.'s Answer to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint is hereby STRICKEN." (R. p. 47). It did not strike Boggs's crossclaim. Boggs raised this issue in its motion to reconsider, and Respondents stated in their memorandum in opposition that "Plaintiffs do not believe that the Order struck Boggs' Cross Claim against Heritage Hauling. Rather, the Order clearly only struck Boggs' Answer to Plaintiffs' Amended

Complaint. Plaintiffs do not believe any further modification to the Order is necessary.” (R. p. 535). The lower court denied the motion to reconsider in a Form 4 Order. (R. p. 49).

There is nothing “ambiguous” about the court’s ruling. (Br. of App. p. 49). Boggs raised this concern and, considering Respondents’ position that the court did not strike the crossclaim, the lower court denied the motion to reconsider. This is sufficiently clear that the court did not strike Boggs’s cross claim. *See Clark v. S.C. Dep’t of Pub. Safety*, 353 S.C. 291, 312, 578 S.E.2d 16, 26 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[T]here is no blanket requirement that the trial court set forth a separate explanation on all of its rulings on post-trial motions.”). Because the lower court did not strike Boggs’s crossclaim, there is nothing for this Court to address on appeal.

Finally, Boggs’s argument on this issue does not cite to any authority, and should be considered abandoned. *See Pampu v. Wingo*, 918 S.E.2d 717 (Ct. App. 2025) (“[Appellant] does not cite any authority to the contrary. Therefore, he has abandoned this argument.”).

There is no abuse of discretion, and this Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

Boggs gave false discovery responses, false deposition testimony, and a false verification. It withheld discovery materials for two years. This is sanctionable conduct. The lower court carefully considered the evidence, arguments, and the law before properly exercising discretion to sanction Boggs by striking its Answer under the court’s inherent powers. The law and evidence fully support that exercise of discretion. There is no basis to overturn it.

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